1980

# Nixon & Nixon, Inc. v. John New & Associates, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for specific performance of a written agreement dated November 20, 1978 between the Defendant, JOHN NEW AND ASSOCIATES, INC., a Utah Corporation (hereinafter in this brief referred to for purposes of convenience as New) and Plaintiff, NIXON & NIXON, INC., a Utah corporation (hereinafter in this brief referred to for purposes of convenience as Nixon), in which agreement New agreed to sell to Nixon and Nixon agreed to purchase from New certain undeveloped real property in Weber County, Utah. Nixon's Complaint was filed on June 6, 1979. (R-1).

New filed an Answer to the Complaint on July 12, 1979, generally admitting the contract, denying its duty to specifically perform the contract and alleging that New and Nixon were joint venturers in development of said property. (R-12).

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case was tried in the District Court of Weber County, Utah, wherein it was filed, before the Honorable Calvin Gould, sitting without a jury, on February 14, 1980. At the conclusion of the trial, Judge Gould took the case under advisement. Thereafter, on February 28, 1980, Judge Gould made and entered the following Memorandum Decision:

The Court holds that the contract is so ambiguous that the rights of the defendant cannot be ascertained or enforced except at the whim or caprice of the plaintiff as to the date of filing final plats, etc. The contract is therefore unenforceable.

Plaintiff may have Judgment for amounts paid and defendant may have Judgment voiding the purported contract.

No Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law or Judgment were entered on said Memorandum Decision within the time for appeal of a final judgment under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and so, to protect the record, Nixon filed a Notice of Appeal on March 28, 1980 from Judge Gould's Memorandum Decision of February 28, 1980. (R-20).

Thereafter, on June 9, 1980, Judge Gould made and entered

formal Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Judgment holding said Agreement vague and ambiguous, restoring the parties to their status before the Agreement, relieving New of any duty to convey the property to Nixon and awarding Nixon a money judgment for the principal amount theretofore paid by Nixon on the Contract in the amount of \$76,928.63 and interest thereon to the date of the Judgment in the amount of \$20,562.83. (R 34-37).

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Nixon requests that this Court reverse the Judgment entered by the Trial Court and direct the Trial Court to enter Judgment in favor of Nixon specifically enforcing and directing New to comply with the Agreement between the parties dated November 20, 1978.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

New was the owner of the real property subject of said Agreement of November 20, 1978 prior to the date of said Agreement. (Plaintiff's Exhibit "B"). New had mortgaged the property to Commercial Security Bank (hereinafter Bank), had defaulted on said mortgage, the Bank had foreclosed the Mortgage and had a sheriff's sale thereon. (T. 127, lines 4-24). The six-month



right of redemption from the sheriff's sale expired November 20, 1978 (T. 128, lines 26-28).

New undertook, during the six-month redemption period, to find a buyer for the property who would pay enough to redeem the property from the sheriff's sale and to enable New to realize some money from the sale. (T. 127, lines 25-27).

In pursuance of its efforts to sell the property, New came in contact with one Jerry Olson (hereinafter Olson). New told Olson he was in trouble on the property and solicited Olson's help in finding a Buyer. Olson requested a formal listing which New refused, preferring rather to give Olson a letter guaranteeing Olson a commission if he sold the property. (T. 127, lines 1-30 and 128, lines 1-12). A letter agreeing to pay a commission was given by New on October 26, 1978. (See Defendant's Exhibit "2").

No Buyer had been found for the property by New, Olson or anyone else by a date two (2) days before the redemption period expired. (Testimony of John New, T. 130, lines 18-23). When Olson informed New that the parties he had been negotiating with would not buy the property, Olson told New that Nixon would buy the property. (Testimony of John New, T. 130, lines 24-30). Nixon subsequently offered to purchase the property for \$130,000.00 of which approximately \$76,000.00 would be used to redeem the property from sheriff's sale and the balance of \$54,000.00 of which would be paid to New "...at a later date." (Testimony of John

New, T. 133, lines 3-15).

Nixon and New then met on November 20, 1978, the date on which the redemption period expired, in the office of New's attorney, Donald C. Hughes, Jr. (hereinafter Hughes). Nixon was not represented by legal counsel at this meeting. (Testimony of Jack Nixon, T. 61, lines 4-15 and T. 62, lines 1-6). The parties there and then proceeded to negotiate the terms of the contract. (Testimony of Jack Nixon, T. 62, lines 10-13). One of Nixon's principal concerns was obtaining a clear title to the property. (Testimony of Jack Nixon, T. 62, lines 14-17).

At this meeting, Hughes gave Nixon a copy of a preliminary title report on the property. A copy of the title report was introduced into evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibit "B". The title report showed numerous judgment liens against the property (See Plaintiff's Exhibit "B") The parties went over the report one item at a time and Hughes and New assured Nixon on each item that the various judgments and liens had either been paid or provision made for removing them from the title to the property and penciled notations made in the left hand margins as to the disposition of each item. (Testimony of Nixon T. 63, lines 13-17). At the trial New's counsel asked what Nixon intended to show by Plaintiff's Exhibit "B" and the penciled notations in the margin of Schedule B thereunder. To this inquiry, Nixon's attorney replied:

"We intend to show that they had represented the

title to the property was either clear or could be made clear, and that they would give us a clear, unencumbered and marketable title to the property. That was their representation."

Whereupon New's attorney stated: "There is no dispute about that. (Testimony of Nixon T. 64, line 29).

The negotiations and drafting were done under pressure of the 5:00 p.m. deadline for redemption and the contract which is the subject of this dispute was finally signed just in time for Nixon, New and Hughes to go to the sheriff's office and redeem the property with money paid by Nixon just ahead of the 5:00 p.m. redemption deadline. (Testimony of Jack Nixon, T. 69, lines 1-19)

The contract between the parties was introduced as Plaintiff Exhibit "A" at the trial. The contract provides for a purchase price of \$130,000.00 of which \$76,928.73 was to be paid down and was in fact paid to redeem the property from sheriff's sale. In paragraph 2, the contract provides that:

2. Buyer shall convey to Seller title to the described property, free and clear of all liens and shall provide for Buyer a policy of title insurance, insuring the title of Buyer.

New's counsel stipulated at the trial that this paragraph contained a scrivener's error and should, in fact, have said "Seller shall convey to Buyer..." (T. 42, lines 16-29).

The contract then provided, among other things as follows:

3. Buyer shall use best efforts to prepare a subdivision plat and proceed with engineering and development of the property at a commercially reasonable speed.

4. Six months from the filing of the final plat, Buyer shall pay to Seller the difference between the redemption price paid initially and One Hundred and Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$130,000.00).

9. Buyer shall execute a note in favor of Seller consistent with the terms of this agreement. In the event, Buyer has not paid the Seller the amounts due and payable hereunder within four years from the filing of final plat, the note shall be in default and Seller may proceed according to law.

Subsequent to the redemption, Jack and Ezra Nixon appeared with Hughes and John New on two occasions in Judge Hyde's Court in Ogden to settle an issue relative to one of the liens on the property. (Testimony of Jack Nixon, T. 70, lines 11-30 and 71, lines 1-15). Immediately following the second court hearing the Nixons, New and Hughes had the following conversation:

Q. Did you have a conversation with Mr. New and Mr. Hughes then following that?

A. Yeah, we talked right here on this floor for a little bit, and we headed back over to Hughes' office. And I said now what do we need to do to get this thing wrapped up? And in fact, we stopped for the light right here on the corner of Kiesel, I guess it is Kiesel, anyway this little short street right here north of the courthouse, and we were talking there, John and I and dad. And John and I said then--I said Don, now what do we need to do now to get the deed and title policy on this property. And he said well, he says, I have got to file the redemption

certificate. And he said I have got to get the title company now to give us--issue us a new policy of title insurance showing these liens are cleaned up on it. And I asked him how long that would be. And he again assured me that it would be shortly forthcoming, within 30 days or so. And I said well, get that note typed up for John, and let's get it signed and get this thing put to bed. And he said I will do it. (T. 71, lines 18-30 and 72, lines 1-7).

In fact, Hughes never prepared and submitted a note to Nixon as provided in paragraph 9 of the agreement, although Nixon was at all times ready, willing and able to sign the note. (Testimony of Nixon T. 69, lines 27-30 and 70, lines 1-10). Nor did New ever tender to Nixon a clear title and title insurance policy to Nixon. (Testimony of John New, T. 74, lines 26-30 and 75, lines 1-5).

Following the signing of the contract, Nixon took some preliminary steps to develop the property even though clear title to the property had not passed to it. These included hiring two landscape designers in January, 1979 (T. 75, lines 11-21), hiring an engineer in March (T. 76, lines 6-22), preparation of subdivision sketches and soil tests (T. 76, lines 23-27) and going to the property twice with the engineer (T. 77, lines 11-27).

In May of 1979, Nixon discovered that New was proceeding to subdivide the property subject of said contract as though New

was still the owner thereof. (T. 77, lines 28-30 and T. 78, lines 1-5).

When Jack Nixon contacted John New to see why he was doing this, John New replied "...that's my property..." and "... I am going to develop it..." (T. 80, lines 11 and 12). Jack Nixon then stated he had purchased the property and made a down payment to which John New replied "...I am going to consider it a loan." (T. 80, lines 26 and 27).

Jack Nixon thereupon caused a title search of the property to be made which disclosed that title to the property was in New and that the title was encumbered by a mortgage, a mechanics lien, a Federal Tax lien, numerous judgment liens and a possible boundary conflict. A copy of this title report is a part of the record as Plaintiff's Exhibit "F". On June 4, 1980, Nixon filed a lis pendens against the property (Plaintiff's Exhibit "G") and on June 6, 1980 filed an action for specific performance of the contract.

The case was tried to Judge Calvin Gould on February 14, 1980 and on February 22, 1980 Judge Gould gave a written Memorandum Decision (R. 19). The Memorandum Decision did not direct the preparation of Findings of Fact or a Judgment and Decree and so Nixon, in order to protect its record, treated the Judgment as a final judgment and appealed therefrom.

Thereafter New's attorney prepared proposed Findings of Fact



and Conclusions of Law and a proposed Judgment. Nixon made written objection thereto and filed a copy of said objection with Judge Gould (R 28-30). On June 4, 1980, counsel for both parties appeared before Judge Gould on his order and reviewed the proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment and Decree and Judge Gould thereupon, on June 9, 1980, made Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Judgment and Decree. (R 34-37).

In fact two Judgments were entered by Judge Gould. The first Judgment follows the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as a part of the same document as the Finding of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R-36)

The second Judgment is the one prepared by Mr. Richards, New's attorney, in April, 1980. While the two Judgments vary slightly they both have the effect of declaring the contract void for ambiguity.

After the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgments were entered, Nixon moved this Court to augment the record on appeal to include said Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgments and to treat Nixon's appeal from the Trial Court's Memorandum Decision as an appeal from both the Trial Court's Memorandum Decision of February 28, 1980 and from its Judgments of June 9, 1980. This motion was granted and an order entered thereon.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1. THE CONTRACT BETWEEN THE PARTIES IS NOT AMBIGUOUS AND VAGUE AND THERE IS SUFFICIENT DEFINITNESS IN THE CONTRACT TO WARRANT SPECIFIC ENFORCEMENT THEREOF.

The provision of the contract which the trial Court apparently found to be vague and ambiguous was paragraph 3 which provides:

3. Buyer shall use best efforts to prepare a subdivision Plat and proceed with engineering and development of the property at a commercially reasonable speed. (Plaintiff's Exhibit "C").

Because this provision did not specify a time by which Nixon would prepare a subdivision plat and because the contract did not require Nixon to pay New money until six months after the subdivision plat was filed the Court concluded that Nixon could forestall paying New indefinitely, simply by not filing a subdivision plat. From this the Trial Court concluded, "The contract is so ambiguous that the rights of the Defendant cannot be ascertained or enforced except at the whim or caprice of the Plaintiff, and to enforce the contract as the Plaintiff now requests would be to deprive the Defendant of any equity he may have had in the property. (Conclusions of Law, R-36).

The following foundational principles are relevant to this case:

1. "It is fundamental that doubtful language in a contract should be interpreted most strongly against the party



who has selected that language, especially where he seeks to use such language to defeat the contract or its operation...also, in case of doubt or ambiguity a contract will be construed most strongly against the party who drew or prepared it, or whose attorney drew or prepared it. (17 Am. Jur. 2d on Contracts, Section 276 P. 689-90). See also Bryant vs. Deseret News Publishing Company (Utah) 233 P.2d 355.

The contract in question in this case was drawn and prepared by New's attorney (Testimony of New, T. 150, lines 24-28. Testimony of Hughes, T. 116, lines 25-30).

2. "...if a contract is capable of a construction which will make it valid, legal, effective, and enforceable, it will be given that construction if the contract is ambiguous or uncertain. A construction which renders the contract valid is preferred to one which renders it invalid, and it will not be construed so as to be invalid unless that construction is required by the terms of the agreement in the light of the surrounding circumstances." (17 Am. Jur. 2d on Contracts, Section 254, pg. 648-650). See also Schofield vs. ZCMI (Utah) 39 P.2d 342.
3. "A contract being construed is to be considered as a whole and the meaning gathered from the entire context, and not from particular words, phrases, or clauses, or from detached or isolated portions of the contract.... Moreover, the entire agreement is to be considered, to determine the meaning of each part. ...All clauses and provisions of the contract should, if possible, be so construed as to harmonize with one another, and all the language of a contract should be construed so as to subserve, and not subvert, the general intention of the parties. The whole agreement should, if possible, be construed so as to conform to an evident consistent purpose. Where a contract as a whole discloses a given intention and certain words or clauses would, if taken literally, defeat the intention, they will be interpreted if possible, so as to be consistent with the general intent." (17 Am. Jur. 2d on Contracts, Section 258, pg. 658-660).

"It is a fundamental rule of contract construction that the entire contract, and each and all of its parts and provisions, must be given meaning, and force and effect, it that can consistently and reasonably be done. An interpretation which gives reasonable meaning to all its provisions will be preferred to one which leaves a portion of the writing useless or inexplicable. So far as reasonably possible, effect will be given to

all the language and to every word, expression, phrase, and clause of the agreement. A construction will not be given to one part of a contract which will annul another part, unless such a result is fairly inescapable... (17 Am. Jur. 2d on Contracts, Section 259, pg. 660-662).

The generally accepted definition of ambiguity in a contract is:

...an uncertainty of meaning in the terms of a written instrument. It means wanting clearness or definiteness; difficult to comprehend or distinguish; of doubtful import. State Bank of Wilbur vs. Phillips (Washington) 119 P.2d, 664).

Ambiguity in a written instrument does not appear until application of pertinent rules of interpretation to the face of the instrument leaves it genuinely uncertain which of two or more meanings is the proper meaning. Dearborn Motors Credit Corp. vs. Neel, (Kansas) 337 P.2d 992.

Taken as a whole the contract in this case is not ambiguous. It clearly expresses a purchase price of \$130,000.00 (paragraph 4) and a down payment of \$76,928.73 (paragraph 1). Because there were liens against the property which had to be cleared before the property could be developed the parties established by the contract a framework by which the property could be developed and, as developed, New could be paid. Thus the contract first provides that New would convey to Nixon a clear title to the property and a title insurance policy. Hughes testified in answer to Mr. Hoggan's question "...you wouldn't expect anyone to proceed with development of the property and the expenditure of a large sum of money until he had clear title to it, would you?" as follows:

No, I think he would want assurance of his return. (T. 125 lines 24-28).

Under a fair interpretation of all provisions of the contract and construing the contract so as to give validity to all of its provisions, the contract is not ambiguous. The provisions the trial court found to be ambiguous are not of duplicitous meaning. Taken in the context of the entire contract they simply require Nixon to begin and proceed with development of the property after New has tendered clear marketable title to Nixon. The Trial Court in effect, ignored the provisions of the contract requiring New to give a clear title, leap-frogged these provisions, took the provisions requiring Nixon to develop the property out of the context of the contract and, standing thereon alone, declared those provisions vague and ambiguous.

Had the Trial Court applied the rules of construction requiring all provisions of the contract to be construed together and favoring an interpretation which validated instead of invalidated the contract, the seeming ambiguity would not have existed. The contract, considered as a whole, shows an orderly manner in which the parties were to accomplish their purposes, i.e. first clear the title, then begin to develop the property and if, in the course of development unforeseen obstacles arose, adjust the Sellers equity by an amount necessary to solve the unforeseen difficulties. If the contract was not as artfully drafted as would be desired it must be remembered that it was drafted under intense time pressure by New's attorney and if there is any question of ambiguity that question should be resolved against New and in favor of preserving the parties' bargain, not nullifying it.

Nixon submits that this Court's recent decision in Reed vs. Alvey (April 21, 1980) 610 P.2d 1374 is dispositive of the issue raised by this appeal.

In the Reed case, one Lambert as agent for Alvey, procured an earnest money offer and a \$500.00 deposit from Reed to purchase one of 4 four-plex units which Alvey proposed to construct on lots at the intersection of Hillview Drive and Ninth East in Salt Lake City, Utah. Alvey signed the earnest money agreement and endorsed the \$500.00 deposit to Lambert as payment on his commission. There were delays in construction of the unit and when Reed couldn't make contact with Alvey, he filed suit for specific performance of the earnest money agreement.

The Trial Court held the agreement vague and ambiguous and declined to order specific performance. The provisions apparently relied on by the Trail Court were that the description was uncertain, the specific unit the Plaintiff was to purchase was not identified and the manner for payment stated "terms to be arranged."

This Court stated as follows:

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