1980

Nixon & Nixon, Inc. v. John New & Associates, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF CASE

This is an action for specific performance of a written contract.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried in the District Court of Weber County to the Honorable Calvin Gould sitting without a jury on the 14th day of February, 1980. The Court entered a judgment restoring the parties to their status before the Agreement, relieving the Respondent JOHN NEW & ASSOCIATES, INC., hereinafter referred to as New, from any duty to convey the property and awarded a money judgment to the Plaintiff/Appellant NIXON & NIXON, INC., hereinafter referred to as Nixon, in the amount of \$76,928.73, together with interest in the amount of \$20,562.83, and granted the

Plaintiff Nixon a lien on the property to insure payment of

the judgment and interest.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Respondent New requests that this Court affirm the judgment of Judge Gould.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

New was a general contractor, and the owner of a parcel of real property consisting of approximately 20 acres located in Weber County, Utah. New had previously mortgaged the property to Commercial Security Bank, had defaulted on the mortgage, and the property was sold at Sheriff's sale. The period of redemption expired on the 20th day of November, 1978. (T-128)

During the six-month redemption period, New sought money to pay off the bank, or purchasers who would purchase the property and thereby preserve for New his substantial equity in the property.

During this period of time, he, New, became acquainted with Jerry Olson, an employee of Nixon. New recited to Olson the nature of his problem concerning the property and solicited Olson's help in securing a buyer. Olson requested a formal listing on the property which New refused on the grounds that he had other offers, but did agree that in the event Olson secured a purchaser for the property, he would guarantee the payment of a commission. (T-127, 128) New ultimately signed a letter of agreement to pay the commission.

Sometime before the redemption period expired, Olson informed New that he had a buyer for the property. (T-130) However, two days prior to the expiration of the redemption period, Olson advised New that the sale had fallen through--that the buyer was no longer interested in the property. Mr. New testified,

" . . . he (Olson) said, Mr. Nixon would buy it from me. He said don't worry, I have got it taken care of. Mr. Nixon is going to take care of you." (T-130, 131)

Nixon and New met for the first time on November 20, 1978, the date the redemption period expired. Nixon agreed to purchase the property for \$130,000.00, of which approximately \$76,000.00 would be required to redeem the property from the Sheriff's sale and the balance of \$54,000.00 would be paid to New, ... "at a later date." (T-133)

They secured the services of attorney Donald C. Hughes, Jr. to draft the agreement. The parties met at the office of Attorney Hughes at approximately 4:00 o'clock in the afternoon. The contract was to be prepared and the property to be redeemed by 5:00 o'clock that same afternoon. The contract was marked Plaintiff's Exhibit C and admitted into evidence.

At the time the contract was drawn, New considered the value of the property to be \$202,000.00. (T-132) He advised Nixon that that was his value of the property and Nixon indicated that he was not going to pay that price,

but Nixon did agree to pay \$130,000.00 for the property.
(T-133)

The contract provided among other things that Nixon would pay the redemption price of \$76,928.73; New "would convey title to the property free and clear of all liens"; and that Nixon "would use best efforts to prepare a subdivision plat and proceed with engineering and development of the property at a commercially reasonable speed."

The contract further provided that six months from filing of the final plat, Nixon would pay to New the difference between the redemption price of \$76,928.73 and \$130,000.00.

After the payment of the redemption price by Nixon, there was no further contact between Nixon and New for an extended period of time. Nixon did not execute and deliver to New a Promissory Note as provided by the contract and New did not execute and deliver a deed to Nixon as provided by the contract. New made many and repeated attempts to contact Nixon. He wrote him a letter on January 9, 1979. (T-137) New said regarding attempts to contact Nixon,

"I contacted them by mail two times, and I must have called them twenty." (T-138, 139)

New went to see Nixon on the 23rd of January, 1979 and found that Mr. Nixon's father had just passed away and Mr. Nixon was unavailable. (T-139)

On February 8, New went to visit Nixon in Logan to no avail, and subsequently sent him a message on the 12th of February in an attempt to set up a meeting in Ogden.
Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
(T-139)

New went to Logan to visit with Nixon on the 7th of February, but Nixon was entertaining some people there and could not see him. New stayed in Logan overnight attempting to see him the following day and waiting for an hour or so, but Nixon didn't show up. Nixon's secretary told New he wasn't coming in until afternoon so New stayed until 2:00 o'clock, but Nixon did not show up and New returned to Salt Lake City.

On February 28, New met with John Reeves of Reeves Engineering in Ogden, and discussed the development of the land and ultimately hired him to perform engineering services in regard to development of the property. (T-141)

There was no further contact between Nixon and New until May of 1979 when Nixon discovered that New was proceeding to subdivide the property. Nixon filed an action against New and the matter proceeded to trial on February 14, 1980.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT WAS CORRECT IN ITS DETERMINATION THAT THE CONTRACT WAS TOO VAGUE FOR SPECIFIC ENFORCEMENT.

It has long been the position of the Courts that contracts cannot and will not be enforced unless they are specifically definite so that the Courts can enforce them without re-writing the contract for the parties. Our high Court made it clear in Bunnell v. Bills 368 P.2d 597, 13

"Furthermore, a contract can be enforced by the courts only if the obligations of the parties are set forth with sufficient definiteness that it can be performed."

The contract now before the Court requires that the buyer, Nixon, pay to the seller the difference between the redemption price of \$76,928.73 and \$130,000.00, or approximately \$54,000.00 six months after the final plat has been filed. The contract makes no requirement as to when that plat will be filed and it obviously depends upon preliminary engineering, approval of the City Council, etc., and the contract does not require that the subdivision plat be prepared within a specific period of time. In fact, the contract says at paragraph 3,

"Buyer shall use best efforts to prepare a subdivision plat and proceed with engineering and development of the property at a commercially reasonable speed."

Nowhere in the contract is the phrase "commercially reasonable speed" defined. The evidence heard at trial indicates specifically that Mr. Nixon did little from the date the property was purchased, i.e. November 20, 1978, to develop the property. By his own testimony, the first action he took was in December and he simply contacted a land design company and had them take a look at it. He admitted,

"They didn't perform any services on it. They did look at it, went down and took a look. But they didn't actually bill me any work." (T-90)

Nixon then had another person, Jay Carlson, go down and look at the property, but

Nixon said that he then hired a Mr. Schwartz to do some surveying and engineering, but Schwartz did nothing until May, 1979, at which time he made some sketches and drilled some test holes on May 30, 1979. (T-92)

It is clear that Nixon did nothing further on the property until he heard that Mr. New was developing the property, at which time he filed his Notice of Lis Pendens and commenced this action.

This evidence alone may not justify the Court's ruling in this matter. However, taking the totality of the evidence heard at trial, it obviously became clear to the Court that not only was the phrase "commercially reasonable speed" vague and ambiguous, but the actions of Mr. Nixon indicated a desire on his part to do nothing for an extended period of time, if not to deliberately delay development. It is clear that New made many and repeated attempts to contact Nixon and discuss the development of the property; New sent two letters, and must have called them twenty times. (T-139) Nixon did not respond and his attitude is characterized by his testimony when asked the question at trial relating to the time that had elapsed from the November purchase of the property until the 30th of May,

Q. During all this period of time, by the time you got some test holes, did you ever have a conversation with Mr. John New?
to which he responded,

Q. Why not?

A. Why should I? (T-92, 93)

Nixon then went on to admit that he had seen some of the mail that had come from John New and that he had been advised that Mr. New wanted to meet with him and he simply said, ". . . what's John got to do with it?" (T-94)

By the very terms of the contract, New was to deliver to Nixon a deed to the property. Nixon was to deliver to Mr. New a Promissory Note for the approximate sum of \$54,000.00. It is simply not reasonable that Mr. Nixon would delay any contact between himself and Mr. New because he was simply too busy.

The above questions make a little more sense when we look at the provision in the contract at paragraph 12, which states,

"In the event, Buyer determines the development is untenable, Buyer may require Seller to rebuy the property for One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000.00)."

The contract also provided at paragraph 13,

"Time is of the essence to this agreement."

This Court in Ferris v. Jennings 595 P.2d 857 (1979) held in a case in which specific performance was requested, at page 859 where the Court said,

"We have no disagreement with the general proposition that a contract will not be specifically enforced unless the obligations of the parties are 'set forth with sufficient definiteness that it can be performed.' But to be considered therewith is the further

proposition that the parties to a contract are obliged to proceed in good faith to cooperate in performing the contract in accordance with its expressed intent." (Emphasis added)

It is obvious that Nixon did not proceed in good faith to cooperate in performing the contract. His testimony at the trial also gives some indication as to his thinking and his motivation in causing the delay. At the time of trial he was asked,

Q. Why didn't you think it was important to talk to this man?

A. It wasn't a matter of being important. It was important -- it was a matter of I just wasn't available, was busy as I could be. (T-95)

Mr. Nixon's attitude was further clarified by his statement at the time of trial when I asked him,

Q. Mr. Nixon, how much are you willing to give by way of promissory note to Mr. New today in exchange for the deed?

A. Whatever I told you I would in that letter.

Q. \$9,000.00, right?

A. Whatever it was.

Q. \$9,052.00. (T-84)

Subsequently in the trial, I again asked the question of Mr. Nixon,

Q. When you gave me a figure of \$9,000.00 that you would accept today, and he gave you a deed, and you gave him

a promissory note for \$9,000.00, a lot of interest was

computed that reduced the \$54,000.00 down to nine, wasn't there?

A. Well, I pulled off the terms of the contract and it reduces it by twenty some odd thousand there. And then there is some liens that haven't been expunged yet that would have to be taken care of. And there is interest on the money that it has cost me in John holding me up from getting that thing done. (T-98)

The contract does not provide for interest which Mr. Nixon admitted. (T-97)

The Respondent New is certain that the Court looked at the totality of the arrangement between the parties, the vagueness of the terms of the contract and the ability of Mr. Nixon to refrain from taking action. The Court ultimately held that the rights of the defendant could not be ascertained or enforced except at the whim or caprice of the plaintiff and therefore found the contract unenforceable. The logic of the Court was sound. The capacity of Nixon to manipulate that contract to his benefit was obvious, and it was obvious that he did not care about the delay--the delay was simply inuring to his benefit and to the substantial economic loss of Mr. New. It was clear at the beginning of the contract that Mr. New would be entitled to approximately \$54,000.00 less what it would cost him to remove some liens, etc., but his interest was substantial and at the time of trial, Mr. Nixon had now determined that New's interest had been diminished to the figure of \$9.

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

ARGUMENT

POINT II

THE COURT WAS CORRECT IN EXERCISING ITS
EQUITABLE RIGHTS TO DENY SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OF THE CONTRACT.

We have heretofore discussed the Court's ruling in
Ferris v. Jennings in which the Court said at page 859,

"But to be considered therewith is the further
proposition that the parties to a contract are
obliged to proceed in good faith to cooperate
in performing the contract in accordance with
its expressed intent."

This Court in Otteson v. Malone 584 P.2d 878
(1978) said at page 879,

"In determining a grant of specific performance
a court should examine the contract and the
circumstances pertaining to its execution and
formation, and determine whether there exist
equitable grounds to grant or deny specific
performance. In this connection a court may
consider any evidence of concealment, over-
reaching, or misunderstanding on the part of
the contracting parties which might result in
a failure of meeting of the minds."

The Respondent does not claim fraud or misrep-
sentation in these matters, but it is clear by the evidence
that Mr. New had a very valuable interest in this property
and the only way he could realize his equitable interest in
this property is to have it developed within a reasonable
period of time. That was obviously his intent at the time
the contract was signed; he believed he would receive approxi-
mately \$54,000.00.

Based on the events that occurred subsequent to

the signing of the contract, it appears obvious that it was not Mr. Nixon's intent to move with dispatch in the development of the property and in accordance with his thinking, why should he? The interest of New diminished as time went on, and if and when Nixon reached a point where he thought the development of the property didn't make any economic sense to him, he had the right, under the terms of the contract, to require New to pay him \$100,000.00 and re-purchase the property. Based upon the testimony of New at the trial, the property was worth in excess of \$200,000.00. (T-131)

Nixon's counsel in his brief at page 18 argued that Nixon stood to lose more than New in the deal if the development of the property was delayed. We do not believe that is true.

Obviously, Nixon put up approximately \$77,000.00 to purchase the property, but the property was worth \$200,000 plus and all he ever had to pay to New was the difference between the \$77,000 he put up and \$130,000, or \$54,000, and New was obligated to pay off all the liens and encumbrances. Therefore, there was no way that Nixon could lose, and if he ultimately decided he no longer wanted to be bothered, and that was at his sole option, he could require New to re-purchase the property for \$100,000.

On the other hand, however, New's interest diminished as time went on and in the mind of Nixon by the time of trial, it had already been diminished by approximately

was obligated to pay over to New. Admittedly, there were some liens that had to be removed, but it was evident at the time of the negotiation between the parties that most of the liens had already been paid, they simply had not yet been removed from the title to the property. (T-117) Nixon believed that most of the liens and encumbrances that had shown on the title report of the property had either been paid, settled or forfeited, and that in some way they had been taken care of. (T-63)

Appellant claims that New is in violation of two fundamental maxims of equity, towit: "He who seeks equity, must do equity" and "He who comes into equity, must come with clean hands." He argues that New had taken matters into his own hands and had not sought judicial assistance when he took over the development of the property. It is clear, however, that New made many attempts to contact Nixon and Nixon would have nothing to do with him. He would not respond to his mail, he did not keep his appointments and he did not return calls. It was Nixon who prevented the diligent and expeditious development of the property for a benefit to himself and the detriment to New.

CONCLUSION

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